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CONCURS:
W. FRANK CRAWFORD, PJ., W.S.
ALAN E. HIGHERS, J.
OPINION

Thiscaseinvolvesaclam by aprisoner dleging aviolation of civil rights. The plaintiff prisoner is
a“jalhouse lawyer” who alegesthat the prison’ slegd facilitieswere insufficient and contendsthat he
was not allowed access to other prisonersin order to provide them legd advice. Thetria court
dismissed theseclams. We affirm.

On June 27, 1997, plaintiff inmates Gary Bernard Sanders, Bobby Jeffries, Issac Herron, Lamar
Fletcher, Willie Stigger and Verdis Chambersfiled acomplaint in the Circuit Court for Lauderdae
County, Tennessee, aleging violations of their civil rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 while they were
incarcerated at the Cold Creek Correctiona Facility (“Cold Creek”). Named as defendantsin the
lawsuit were numerous employees of the Tennessee Department of Correction: Dona Camphbell,
Commissioner of the Tennessee Department of Correction; Charles Bass, Assistant Commissioner of
the Tennessee Department of Correction; Alton Hesson, Cold Creek’ s Warden; Jmmy N. Harrison,
Cold Creek’ sformer Warden; Tommy Mills, Associate Warden at Cold Creek; Bobby Tillman, aUnit
Manager at Cold Creek; Pam Nimmo, acounsdlor at Cold Creek; Patricia Temple, dso known as
Patricia Steward, also acounselor at Cold Creek; Larry Hunter, Bettye Kirkpatrick, Patricia Galloway,
and Lois Montgomery, al Corporals at Cold Creek; Jason L. Hamilton, a Correctional Officer One at
Cold Creek; and William Webb, formerly a Correctiona Officer One at Cold Creek, later assigned to
the West Tennessee High Security Facility. The plaintiffs asserted inter alia that the prison legd
assistance program and the prison’ slaw library did not meet congtitutiona standards and therefore
denied the prisoners’ congtitutiona right of accessto the courts. Plaintiff Gary Bernard Sanders (*
Sanders”), aself-described “jailhouse lawyer,” aleged that prison officiasretdiated against him for

attempting to provide legd assstanceto other prisonersby, among other things, denying him accessto
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segregated inmates. Sandersisthe only plaintiff who appedled thetria court’ s disposition of the lawsuit.

Cold Creek maintainsa prison law library and aprison legal assistance program. Inmates
approved by the warden are permitted to serve aslaw library clerks, aides and asinmate legal helpers.
Only approved inmate legd hel pers are permitted to meet with and provide legd assistance to inmates
who have been placed in segregation. Sandersworked asalaw library clerk at Cold Creek. While

Sanders describes himsdlf asa “jallhouse lawyer” who occasiondly assists other
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inmatesin legal matters, Sanders was not on the gpproved inmate lega helper list. Consequently, he
was denied access to segregated inmates.

In hislawsuit, Sanders claimed that prison officias promulgated rules which hindered the inmates’
use of thelaw library, failed to adequately train inmate legal hel pers, limited access to photocopying and
inmate telephone systems for legal purposes, and modified Department of Correction rules regarding
payments for notary services, sick call, and disciplinary infractions. Sanders dleged that these actions
violated theinmates’ congtitutional guarantee of meaningful accessto the courts.

Sanders aso dleged that, in retdiation for his attemptsto provide legal assistance to other
inmates, prison officials denied him access to segregated inmates who had requested hislega assstance,
conducted searches of his person and of his cell, subjected him to drug tests, issued fase disciplinary
reports againgt him, and subjected him to the prison disciplinary process. In addition, Sanders aleged
that prison officias unlawfully confiscated his word processor and storage disks. Sandersalso aleged
that prison officids violated the Eighth Amendment to the Condtitution, inflicting “cruel and unusud
punishment” on him by subjecting him to unsanitary conditionsin the library restroom.

The defendants filed amotion to dismiss the complaint, pursuant to Rule 12.02(6) of the
Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure, for failureto sate aclam. Plaintiffs Sanders, Willie Stigger, Verdis
Chambers and Lamar Fletcher each filed responses to the defendants’ motion to dismiss.

Thetrid court ruled that the plaintiffs had failed to comply with Tennessee Code Annotated 8
41-21-801 et seg., which setsforth the prerequisites for inmatesto file clamsin the state courts. In
addition, thetrial court found that there could be no ligbility under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for retaiation on a
theory of respondest superior. Thetrid court found further that the plaintiffs had failed to state an Eighth
Amendment violation, and that neither the State of Tennessee nor its employees, sued in their officid
capacities, are “persons” asthat term is defined under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Findly, thetrid court found
that under Tennessee Code Annotated 8§ 9-8-307(h), state officers and employees are absolutely
immune from liability for acts or omissions occurring in the scope of their office or employment.

Consequently, thetrid court dismissed the lawsuit initsentirety.  Only Sanders gppedled thetrid court’s
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order of dismissl.

On gpped, Sanders dlegesthat thetria court erred in finding that Sandersfailed to comply with
Tennessee Code Annotated 8§ 41-21-805; infinding that Sandersfailed to establish aviolation of his
condtitutiona right of accessto the courts; and in concluding that Sandersfailed to establish either a
clam of retdiation or an Eighth Amendment clam.

InHumphriesv. West End Terrace, Inc., 795 SW.2d 128 (Tenn. App. 1990), this Court
sd:

A motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12.02(6), Tenn. R. Civ. P., for
falureto state aclam upon which relief can be granted isthe equivaent
of ademurrer under our former common law procedure and, thus, isa
test of the sufficiency of the leading pleading. Cornpropst v. Sloan,
528 S.W.2d 188, 190, 93 A.L.R.3d 979 (Tenn. 1975). Such amotion
admitsthetruth of dl relevant and materid averments contained inthe
complaint but assertsthat such facts do not constitute a cause of action.
Cornpropst, 528 SW.2d at 190. A complaint should not be dismissed
upon such motion “unlessit appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can
prove no set of factsin support of his claim that would entitle him to
reief.” Fuerst v. Methodist Hospital South, 566 S.\W.2d 847, 848
(Tenn. 1978). In conddering whether to dismissacomplaint for fallure
to state aclaim upon which relief can be granted, the court should
condruethe complaint liberdly in favor of the plaintiff teking al of the
dlegations of fact therein astrue. Huckeby v. Spangler, 521 SW.2d
568, 571 (Tenn. 1975).

Id. at 130; see also Riggsv. Burson, 941 SW.2d 44 (Tenn. 1997). Therefore, our review is de novo
upon the record, with no presumption of the correctness of thetria court’ sruling.

On gpped, Sandersfirg dlegesthat thetria court erred in finding that the lawsuit should be
dismissed because hefailed to comply with the statutory prerequisitesfor inmatesto file clamsin state
court. Tennessee Code Annotated § 41-21-805 provides:

Affidavit of inability to pay - Requirements. - (&) Any inmate who filesaclamwith

an afidavit of inability to pay costs shdl file a separate affidavit with the following

information:

(1) A completelist of every lawsuit or clam previoudy filed by the inmate, without

regard to whether the inmate was incarcerated at the time any claim or action wasfiled;

and

(2) For eech claim or action listed in subsection (a):

(A) The operative factsfor which reief was sought;
(B) The case name, case number and court in which the suit or claim
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wasfiled,;

(C) Thelegd theory on which the relief sought was based;

(D) Theidentification of each party named in the action; and

(E) Thefind result on the action, including dismissal asfrivolous or
malicious under this part or otherwise.
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(b) If that affidavit filed under this section states that a previous suit was dismissed as
frivolous or mdicious, the affidavit must date the date of the final order affirming the
dismisA.

(C) The affidavit must be accompanied by acurrent certified copy of the inmate’ strust
account statement.

Id. Thus, under this satute, Sanders was required to file with the complaint an affidavit of hisinability to
pay, an affidavit regarding hishistory of prior lawsuits, and a certified copy of histrust account
gatement. While Sandersfiled a “Uniform Civil Affidavit of Indigency,” the record does not include any
affidavit by Sandersregarding his history of any prior lawsuits or acertified copy of histrust account
statement. Consequently, dismissal on this basiswas appropriate. See Farnsworth v. Compton, et
al., No. 02A01-9809-CV-00257, 1999 WL 360567 (Tenn. App. June 7, 1999). However, since
dismissa on thisbasis would be without prejudice, we must examine the other issues raised on appedl.

Sandersdlegesfurther that thetrid court erred in finding that he had failed to establish a
violation of his congtitutiond right of accessto the courts. Hisdlegationsfal into two categories. (1) that
prison officidswrongfully prevented him from having accessto inmatesin segregation, in order for himto
assist the segregated inmates with their legal claims, and (2) that prison officidstook actionswhich
generdly made the pursuit of legd claims, by Sanders or other inmates, more difficult, such aslimiting
access to photocopying and issuing rules hindering accessto the law library.

Itiswell established that prisoners have a condtitutional right of accessto the courts. See Lewis
v. Casey, 518 U.S. 343, 116 S.Ct. 2174, 2180, 135 L.Ed.2d 606 (1996). A congtitutionally
acceptable method of assuring meaningful accessto the courtsisfor prison authoritiesto provide
prisoners with adequate law libraries or adequate ass stance from personswith legal training. Seeid. at
2177, 2180 (citing Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817, 828, 97 S.Ct. 1491, 1498, 52 L .Ed. 2d 72
(1977)). Based on the doctrine of standing, an inmate alleging aviolation of theright of accessto the
courts must show actud injury. See Lewis, 116 S.Ct. at 2179. A prisoner “cannot establish relevant
actud injury by establishing that hisprison’slaw library or legd ass stance program is sub-par in some

theoreticd sense.” Id. at 2180. He must demonstrate that “the dleged shortcomings ... hindered his
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effortsto pursuealega clam.” 1d.
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Sanders clamsfirat that prison officids violated his rights by denying him accessto segregated
inmates, in order for him to provide lega assstanceto them. However,

... [T]heright of accessto the courts does not guarantee [the plaintiff prisoner] the right

to represent an other inmate, nor does it authorize him to act in any representative

capacity. . . . Rather, theinmate whom he might be trying to advise may have some

liberty interest and a corresponding right to assert that right in court. From thisright is

derived aright to receive legd advice from inmates, if other means of protecting that

access to the courts are not adequate.

Harrison v. Seay, 856 F. Supp. 1275, 1279 (W.D. Tenn. 1994). Thus, while the inmates whom
Sanders sought to assist may arguably have standing to assert adenia of their right of accessto the
courts, Sanders has no such standing, based only on prison officids’ denid of opportunities for Sanders
to gvelegd advice. Thetria court’sdecison on thisissueis affirmed.

Sanders d <o aleges various problems with his use of the prison legd facilities, such asrules
which hindered accessto the law library and limitations on access to photocopying equipment. He does
not, however, alege that prison officids prevented him from pursuing hisown legd clams. Under Lewis,
in order to satisfy the actud injury requirement, Sanders must show that “the dleged shortcomingsin the
library or thelegal assistance problem hindered hiseffortsto pursuealega clam.” 1d., 116 S. Ct. at
2180. Therefore, Sandersfailsto dlege facts showing an actua injury, and the decision of thetria court
isaffirmed on thisissue.

Sanders argues further on apped that thetrid court erred in dismissing hisclamsof retdiation.
He assartsthat prison officids retdiated againgt him for providing lega advice to other inmates by
denying him access to segregated inmates who had requested his assistance, by conducting searches of
his person and of hiscell, by subjecting him to drug tests, by issuing fase disciplinary reportsagaingt him
and by subjecting him to the prison disciplinary process. He arguesthat their actionsviolated 42 U.S.C.
§1983.

Government actions which standing alone do not violate the Constitution may neverthelessbe

congdtitutiona tortsif motivated by adesreto punish an individua for exercisng aconditutiond right. See

Thaddeus-X v. Blatter, 175 F.3d 378, 386 (6th Cir. 1999). The essence of aretaiation clam isthat
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the plaintiff engaged in conduct protected by the Congtitution or by statute, that adverse action was
taken againgt the plaintiff, and that the adverse action was taken because of the protected conduct. See

id. at 386-87.
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Consequently, it must first be determined whether Sanders was engaged in protected conduct.
As noted above, “aninmate does not have an independent legd right to help other prisonerswith their
legd dams.” Id. at 395, seealso Harrison, 856 F. Supp. at 1279. Asexplained in Thaddeus-X:

[A] “jailhouselawyer’ s’ right to assist another prisoner iswholly derivative of that

prisoner’ sright of accessto the courts; prison officids may prohibit or limit jailhouse

lawyering unless doing so interfereswith an inmate’ s ability to present hisgrievancesto a

court.... Thus only if X’ sassgtanceis necessary to vindicate Bell’ sright of accessto

the courts can X too, state a.claim of retdiation.

Id., 175 F.3d at 395. Therefore, in the case at bar, Sanders cannot show that he was engaged in
protected conduct in advising other inmates, unless he can show that, in the absence of Sanders’
assistance, the other inmates were denied meaningful accessto the courts. As noted above, this cannot
be shown merdy by aleging that the prison legd facilitieswere “sub-par;” it must be shown that the
inmates whom Sanders sought to assist were unable to pursue aparticular legitimate legal claminthe
absence of Sanders’ help. See Lewis, 116 S. Ct. at 2180.

In this case, the record indicates that Cold Creek maintained both a prison law library and an
inmate legal assistance program. Any inmate, such asalaw library clerk like Sanders, could assst
inmates who were not in segregation. However, only inmates on the gpproved inmate legal helper list
were permitted to assi st prisonersin segregation.

Fantiff/iInmate Willie Stigger* dleged in the Complaint that, while incarcerated at another prison,
that he had filed alawsuit in the U.S. Digtrict Court for the Western Didtrict of Tennessee styled Stigger
v. Gilless, et al., No. 95-2920. Stigger Stated that this lawsuit was filed with the assistance of an
inmate legal helper at the other prison. Stigger was subsequently transferred to Cold Creek, and his
federal lawsuit was later dismissed for failure to prosecute. After dismissa of the federa lawsuit and
while he was serving aten day segregation at Cold Creek, Stigger first asked for Sanders’ assstancein
preparing anotice of appeal and an application for permission to proceed as a poor person, to be filed

with the United States Court of Appeasfor the Sixth Circuit. Stigger
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Sated:

Inmate Gary Sanders, informed the Plaintiff [Willie Stigger] that he could

not prosecute the apped if the sixth circuit granted leave to proceed in

forma pauperis. Inmate Gary Sanders had other legd obligations that

consumed mogt of histime.
Stigger’ sdlegations, if taken astrue, do not establish that he was unable to pursue hislegd actionin the
absence of help from Sanders. Stigger did not alege that he was prevented from using the law library
before and after his period of segregation, nor did he alege that other legal helpers on the gpproved list
could not assst him. Indeed, Stigger’ s Complaint acknowledged that Sanders assisted Stigger with his
apped of the Stigger’ slawsuit to the Sixth Circuit, but stated that Sanders “had other legdl obligations
that consumed most of histime.” Under these circumstances, Stigger has not been denied meaningful
access to the courts.

Faintiff inmates Verdis Chambers and Bobby Jeffries? aleged in the Complaint thet, while they
werein segregation, prison officials denied their requests for legal assstance from Sanders on the basis
that Sanders was not on the approved inmate lega helper list. Neither Chambers nor Jeffries dleged
that they did not have other means of accessto the courts or that they were not able to use the law
library upon release from segregation, and neither aleged that they were denied reasonable alternatives
to Sanders’ assstance. Neither dleged factswhich, if taken astrue, would establish that either was
unableto pursue a particular lawsuit in the absence of assstance from Sanders.

In addition, plaintiffs Issac Herron and Lamar Fletcher® dleged in the Complaint that prison
officia hindered them in asssting other inmateswith lega clams. Herron was an gpproved “inmatelegd
helper,” and Fletcher was an inmate law library clerk. However, neither Herron nor Fletcher alleged
that they were pursuing their own legd actions or that were prevented from pursuing any actionin the
absence of assstance from Sanders. Instead, they alleged that they were hindered in assisting other
inmates. Their clams are independent from those of Sanders and have no bearing on Sanders’ appedl.

Thus, the dlegations of the inmates whom Sanders sought to assist do not establish that

reasonable dternativesto Sanders’ assstance were not available. Indeed, it isundisputed that the prison
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provided alaw library and alist of approved lega helpersto assst prisonersin segregation, athough
Sanderswas not on the list of approved inmate helpers. Therefore, since the inmates whom Sanders
sought to assist cannot show that they were unable to pursue an particular lega claim without help from
Sanders, Sanders cannot establish thefirgt prong of hisclaim for retdiation, i.e. that he was engaged in “
protected activity.” Consequently, we affirm thetrial court’ s decision to dismiss Sanders’ retdiation
clam.

Sanders dso gppealsthetria court’ sdismissd of hiscdam under the Eighth Amendment to the
United States Condtitution. Sanders allegesthat prison officials violated the prohibition againgt “crud
and unusud punishments” by subjecting him to unsanitary conditionsin the prison library restroom.

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution, applied to the states through the Due
Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, prohibits the infliction of *crud and unusud punishments”
on those convicted of crimes. Wilson v. Seiter, 501 U.S. 294, 296-97, 111 S.Ct. 2321, 2323, 115
L.Ed.2d 271 (1991). In order to establish an Eighth Amendment claim, a plaintiff must meet two
requirements. Firgt, the alleged deprivation “must be, objectively, ‘sufficiently serious,” ” meaning thet
the “prison officid’ s act or omission must result in the denid of *theminimd aivilized measure of life's
necessties’ ” Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 834, 114 S. Ct. 1970, 1977, 128 L.Ed.2d 811
(1994) (citations omitted). Secondly, the plaintiff must demonstrate the prison officid acted with the
requisite intent, that is, that he had a “sufficiently culpable sate of mind.” Seeid., 511 U.S. at 834, 114
S.Ct. a 1977 (citations omitted). In casesinvolving prison conditions, a plaintiff must show that the
prison officid was ddiberately indifferent to inmate hedth and safety. |d. The Congtitution does not
mandate comfortable prisons. Wilson, 501 U.S. at 298, 111 S.Ct. at 2324.

In this case, Sanders clearly does not alege a deprivation that is objectively “sufficiently serious.”

Subjecting Sandersto unsanitary conditionsin the library restroom does not rise to the level of adenid
of theminimd civilized measure of life’ s necessities. Consequently, Sandersfailsto state aclaim for

violation of the Eighth Amendment. The decision of thetrid court isaffirmed on thisissue.
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The decison of thetria court isaffirmed. Cogts are assessed againgt the Appel lant, for which

execution may issueif necessary.

HOLLY KIRBY LILLARD, J.

CONCUR:

W. FRANK CRAWFORD, P.J.,,W.S.

ALAN E. HIGHERS, J.
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